1956

State of Utah v. Albert Edmund Barlow : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Albert Edmund Barlow was on the 31st day of October, 1955, in Salt Lake County, Utah, charged with the crime of unlawful cohabitation in that in Salt Lake County, between April 30, 1952, and October 31, 1955,

“the said Albert Edmund Barlow, at the time and place aforesaid did unlawfully cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex, to-wit: Maureen Owen, Amanda Kate Kilgrow, Vio Frazer”. (R. 16)

The defendant was bound over for trial upon waiver of preliminary hearing (R. 1), and defendant appeared for arraignment December 23, 1955 (R. 17). On Decem-

ber 31, 1955, defendant demanded a bill of particulars (R. 19-20), which was furnished (R. 23-24), together with an amended information (R. 21-22), on the 13th day of January, 1956. Defendant filed a motion to quash (R. 25-26) on four grounds on the 14th day of January, 1956, which was heard on the 19th day of January, 1956, and denied by the court. Defendant on the 21st day of January, 1956, entered a plea of not guilty (R. 29). The case came on for hearing before a jury on the 12th day of March, 1956.

During the impanelling of the jury the court denied a motion of the State to strike Juror McMurrin on the basis of admitted prejudice (R. 47-48) and a motion of defendant to strike Juror Ohran for cause on the basis that he had predetermined the defendant's marital status, an essential element of the case (R. 51-53). The court further denied defendant's motion to discharge the jury on the district attorney's voir dire as to plural marriage (R. 54) and the district attorney's reference to the three women named in the information as defendant's "wives" (R. 50-51). The court further refused to strike for cause Juror Nelson on the ground that his employment arose directly from the L.D.S. Church (R. 61) and denied defendant's challenge to the panel on the basis that ten of the twelve were of the L.D.S. faith (R. 62).

The case proceeded to trial after both the defendant and the State had exhausted their preemptory challenges. The State proceeded to put on its evidence, and at 2:00 p. m. on March 13, 1956, the defense rested.

The court released the jury for thirty minutes without supervision after all the evidence was in, prior to instructions. Defendant requested Instructions Nos. 1 to 6 inclusive (R. 245-252). Defendant excepted to the court's refusal to give requested Instruction No. 1 (R. 246). The court gave its instructions covering the offense, together with stock instructions (R. 253-262). The court thereafter modified Instructions Nos. 3, 5 and 10 (R. 234-235). The defendant excepted to the court's Instructions Nos. 3, 5 and 10 and the modification thereof (R. 235-236). The State excepted to Instructions Nos. 6 and 10. Arguments were presented, the jury retired and returned a verdict of guilty. Defendant was sentenced by the court for an indefinite period not to exceed five years in the State prison.

Within the time provided by law, defendant appealed to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Albert Edmund Barlow married Kate Kilgrow (Amanda Kate Barlow) on October 23, 1922 (R. 69 and Exhibit 1), said marriage resulting in several children. Thereafter he lived with and had issue by Maurine Owen and Vio Fraser, the evidence not showing the beginning dates of either relationship. Barlow was convicted of unlawful cohabitation with these three women in May, 1944, and sentenced thereon in 1945 (R. 74). At the time of his release from the Utah State prison on parole Barlow was informed by the parole board that he was under the duty to support and maintain his children (R.

260). At all times after Barlow's release, the three families lived in separate and widely segregated homes. Amanda Kate Barlow lived at 25 West 6025 South, Murray, Utah, in Salt Lake County (R. 78), and at Bluebell, Duchesne County (R. 221). Vio Fraser lived at 50 Granite Avenue, Salt Lake County (R. 195), and in Mountain Home, Duchesne County (R. 199). Maurine Owen lived at 1538 South 3d East, Salt Lake City and County, during the entire period (R. 183).

Several witnesses had seen Barlow around each of the three homes at intervals during the period in which the crime is charged. With regard to 25 West 6025 South, see the testimony of Bruce Andreasen (R. 75-86), Shirley Broadbent (R. 86-95), David Eccles (R. 95-101), Alhona Barlow (R. 102-109), and David W. Barlow (R. 110-119). With regard to 1538 South 3d East, see testimony of Evelyn Clampitt (R. 126-144), and Annie M. Roll (R. 159-166), Sarah Arpin (R. 166-169), and Edmund Barlow (R. 170-176). With regard to 50 Granite Avenue, see testimony of Vio Fraser (R. 194-200) and David W. Barlow (R. 110-119).

The testimony of the witnesses showed Barlow at each of the places at various times helping care for the premises, controlling the children, and on occasion bringing groceries and supplies to the houses. With respect to 1538 South 3d East, the testimony of Evelyn Clampitt indicates Barlow dined there on occasion.

The State produced 27 birth certificates, which were entered with two exceptions, upon the withdrawal of

objection as to materiality by the defendant. Only two of these birth certificates concerned children born or conceived within the period charged in the information, both of these children being born to Maurine Owen.

The testimony of several witnesses, including David W. Barlow, Arlene Mitchell and Vio Fraser, showed the defendant and at least two of the women with whom he is accused of having cohabited, to-wit, Amanda Kate Barlow and Vio Fraser, to have lived in Duchesne County during a portion of the time charged in the information and in different places in Duchesne County.

The court allowed, over defendant's objection, a plethora of hearsay testimony by witnesses consisting of neighbors of the three abodes in Salt Lake County regarding statements made to them or overheard by them from the children and alleged cohabitees with the defendant and out of the presence of the defendant.

The evidence shows beyond any doubt that the defendant continued after his former conviction to care for, maintain, support and educate his children, but there is no evidence of cohabitation or holding the three women set forth in the information out as wives during the period charged in the information.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I

The court erred in denying defendant's motion to quash and more particularly Paragraph 1:

“The information does not charge the defendant with the commission of an offense,”

and Paragraph 3:

“That there is more than one offense charged, except as provided in Section 77-21-31, U. C. A., 1953, to-wit:

‘a. Cohabiting with Maurine Owen and Kate Kilgrow during the period alleged in the information.

‘b. Cohabiting with Maurine Owen and Vio Frazer during the same period.

‘c. Cohabiting with Vio Frazer and Kate Kilgrow during the same period.’ ”

II.

The court erred in allowing in evidence facts outside of the period charged in the information.

III.

The court erred in allowing in evidence hearsay statements and conclusions arising from conversations not in the presence of the defendant.

IV.

The court erred in giving Instruction No. 2, in that said instruction, together with other instructions, does not inform the jury of the elements of the crime charged.

V.

The court erred in giving Instruction No. 5, in that it is ambiguous, entirely negative, and construed together

with Instruction No. 2 tends to confuse the jury.

VI.

The court erred in failing to define the word, "cohabitation," to the jury.

VII.

The court erred in denying defendant's challenge for cause to Juror Ohran.

VIII.

The evidence, in view of the instructions, is insufficient to show cohabitation between defendant and any two of the women charged during the period set forth in the information.

IX.

The court erred in amending Instructions Nos. 3, 5 and 10 after the original submission to the jury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH, AND MORE PARTICULARLY PARAGRAPH 1 THEREOF, THAT THE INFORMATION DOES NOT CHARGE THE DEFENDANT WITH THE COMMISSION OF AN OFFENSE, AND PARAGRAPH 3, THAT THERE IS MORE THAN ONE OFFENSE CHARGED. (Assignment of Error Nos. 1 and 9).

Said errors will be discussed separately.

A.

The information does not charge an offense in that the statute, Section 76-53-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is so ambiguous and uncertain that it does not inform the public as to the crime it charges, nor advise the court in directing the trial of the matter. It is in violation of defendant's constitutional rights under Amendments V and XIV of the Constitution of the United States. The ambiguity arises from the entire lack of a time factor.

The section so far as is applicable to this point reads as follows:

“If any person cohabits with more than one person of the opposite sex, such person is guilty of a felony.”

This court has from 1896 to the present date given many and varied definitions of the word, “cohabit,” as used in this law, the sum and substance of them being to the effect that “cohabit” was intended by the legislature for the purpose of this legislation to come under the second dictionary definition of that word, i.e., “to live together as man and wife; or ostensibly to hold one of the opposite sex out to the world as one's spouse.”

U. S. vs. Cannon, 4 U. 122, 7 P. 369;

U. S. vs. Snow, 4 U. 295, 9 P. 686;

State vs. Jessup, 98 U. 482, 100 P(2) 969;
State vs. Barlow, 107 U. 292, 153 P(2) 647;
U. S. vs. White, 4 U. 500, 11 P. 570.

Nowhere in the law itself is a time factor considered. There is nothing in the title nor in the body of the law to connote the necessity of cohabitation with more than one person of the opposite sex simultaneously or within a reasonable period of time; in fact, the only legislation putting a time factor to this section is the omnibus limitation of actions as to felonies, which makes a limitation on prosecution of felonies not otherwise enumerated of four years.

Let us ask: Is the person who divorces his or her spouse and then marries again within four years after living with the first spouse guilty of a felony? He or she is not guilty of polygamy as the first marriage is ended in law prior to entering into the second, but is he or she not guilty of a violation of Section 76-53-2? And what of the widow or widower who seeks solace or financial security by a second marriage within the felony limitation period following the demise of the former spouse? Is he or she not subject to prosecution both unwittingly and unknowingly?

This line of reasoning has theretofore been pondered by this court in *State vs. Jessup*, 98 U. 482, 100 P(2) 969, another Utah unlawful cohabitation case, wherein this court on page 971 states:

“The definition of cohabitation given by our statute is so general that to limit the information to it, word for word, states no more than a class

of crimes. In fact, it is gravely questionable whether the statute states the offense it was intended to cover. It would appear that some attention should have been given to the element of time. If a man marries and lives with a second wife after the death of, or divorce from, his first, he falls within the definition of the statute; yet all must concede that it was not the intention of the Legislature to make such relationships the bases of criminal offenses."

The defendant in the instant case was found guilty under this same statute in 1944 (R. 215-217), and it is apparent by the finding of the jury that his efforts to support his children show a continuity of a holding out of three ostensible marital relationships ad infinitum, or at least until the children of at least two of the families are reared and no longer living with their mother.

The court, in *State vs. Musser*, U., 223 P(2) 193, quoting Justice Jackson in *Musser et al. vs. State of Utah*, 333 U.S. 95, 68 Sup. Ct. 397, 92 L. ed. 562 states:

"Legislation may run afoul of the due process clause because it fails to give adequate guidance to those who would be law-abiding to advise defendants of the nature of the offense with which they are charged or to guide courts in trying those who are accused."

In that case also, the matter arising from an unlawful cohabitation and teaching of polygamy situation, the court held that our conspiracy law, Section 76-11-1(5), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, was void for vagueness and uncertainty, and that it did not inform people

under the jurisdiction of that law as to what constituted the crime of conspiracy. The instant statute would appear to be even more vague and uncertain in that it in no way whatsoever informs the public nor any of them as to the time element, if any, intended by the legislature during which a person could hold out only one person of the opposite sex to be his spouse.

The question would appear to be whether the statute is so vague and ambiguous and indefinite that it fails to define the offense attempted to be charged, and to give reasonable standards for determining by the public the nature of the crime they are prohibited from violating, and by the court as a guide for determination of guilt. Can it be said in view of the wording of Section 76-53-2 that a person living with one person of the opposite sex in 1952 and with another in 1955 is not guilty of an offense, while a person, regardless of marital status, who holds one person of the opposite sex out to be his or her spouse in January of a given year and holds another out as his or her spouse in December of the same year is guilty? Must the cohabitation be simultaneous, concurrent, or is a holding out to the world of two persons as spouses sufficient any time within the four-year limitation period whether concurrent, within a short period of time, or separated by three years and eleven months? The statute gives no guide or limitation whatsoever.

B.

Defendant further contends that the amended information (R. 21-22) and the bill of particulars (R. 23-

24) charge the defendant in one count with the commission of three separate and distinct crimes, to-wit:

a. Cohabiting during the period charged with Amanda Kate Barlow and Maurine Owen;

b. Cohabiting during the period charged with Amanda Kate Barlow and Vio Fraser;

c. Cohabiting during the period charged with Maurine Owen and Vio Fraser.

And the court by its amendments to Instruction No. 3, subparagraph 1:

“That on and between April 30, 1952, and the 31st day of October, 1955, Albert Edmund Barlow did cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex, to-wit, with any two or more of the following: Maurine Owen, Amanda Kate Kilgrew, and Vio Fraser” (R. 234 and 254),

and Instruction No. 10 (R. 258), where the court amended the instruction by adding, “any two or more of the three women,” to the original instruction, thereby literally and concisely instructing the jury that it need not find the defendant guilty of cohabiting with three women as charged in the information, but of cohabiting with any two of said three.

The court further in its verdict (R. 261-262) does not set out guilty of cohabiting with A and B, A and C, or B and C, but merely guilty as charged, or, in the alternative, not guilty, thereby affirming defendant's contention on his motion to quash that there is more than one crime charged.

This is in effect a method of procedure wherein the State charges: "We accuse the defendant of breaking the law by cohabiting with A, B, and C, etc. We do not know which of the women he cohabited with, but if we prove to your satisfaction that he cohabited with any two of the women set forth in the information during the three years period charged (and that cohabitation need not cover the same period), you may find him guilty as charged."

Section 77-21-31, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, entitled "Joinder of Offenses," states:

"The information or indictment must charge but one offense, but the same offense may be set forth in different forms under different counts; and when the offense may be committed by the use of different means, the means may be alleged in the alternative in the same count; provided, that an information or indictment for larceny may contain also a count for obtaining money by false pretenses, a count for embezzlement, and a count for receiving or buying stolen property, knowing it to be stolen; that an information or indictment for forgery may contain a count for uttering a forged instrument, knowing it to be a forgery; that an information or indictment for robbery may contain a count for larceny; that an information or indictment for burglary may contain a count for housebreaking and one for larceny, and an information or indictment for housebreaking may contain a count for larceny; that an information or indictment for rape may contain a count for carnal knowledge of a female under eighteen years of age, and that an information or indictment for rape or assault with intent to commit rape, or

carnal knowledge of a female under eighteen years of age, or attempt to commit the crime of carnal knowledge of a female under eighteen years of age, or crime against nature upon any person, or attempt to commit the crime against nature upon any person, may contain also a count for indecent assault.”

It will be noted that the situation at hand does not come within the exceptions listed *supra* nor is the information drawn in more than one count. In *State vs. Jensen*, 74 U. 527, 536, 280 P. 1046, this court goes so far as to hold:

“Under this section, where two or more offenses arise from the same transaction, each punishable as a separate crime, whether all arise from a single act or from successive parts of a whole transaction, they cannot be joined unless permitted by an exception to the prohibition against uniting the offenses or unless they bear the relation of a lesser involved to a greater offense, or the component parts of the crime sought to be charged are themselves crimes.”

The situation in the instant case purporting to arise from various transactions connected only by the alleged presence of the defendant at each transaction must constitute three possible crimes, and all transactions are set forth in one count in the information in distinct violation of Section 77-21-31.

It is plain that under the information in the instant case upon such a finding the jury, if there had been proper evidence, could have determined that the defendant cohabited with one of the women without cohabitation

with either one of the other two of the women, or that he cohabited with any two of the women with the third not being necessary to the case at all. The question arises in one's mind after a thorough reading of the information and the instructions of the court, did the jury find Albert Edmund Barlow guilty of cohabiting with all three of the women in the information or with only two of them, and, if so, which two?

The writer urges that the information contains a joinder expressly prohibited by Section 77-21-31, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and that the court's denial of defendant's motion to quash was reversible error.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE TO JUROR OHRAN. (Assignment of Error No. 7).

In questioning the jury panel on voir dire, Juror Ohran stated he was acquainted with the defendant and defendant had worked for him (R. 39). Later on voir dire on the district attorney's questioning of Juror Ohran regarding his knowledge of defendant and his family life, Juror Ohran by his answers explicitly admitted a pre-conceived opinion as to defendant's marital status:

"MR. ANDERSON: Further, Your Honor, I would like know whether or not Mr. Ohran who apparently has had some acquaintance with the defendant, during that acquaintance became familiar with any of the circumstances relating to Mr. Barlow and his family life that might in any way affect his judgment, one way or the other?

"MR. OHRAN: No, I didn't know at that time. Since that time and I guess I have been a little acquainted with it we have had a girl who is in a similar circumstance work for us and talked about it" (R. 51).

On the basis of this answer, defendant challenged for cause on the ground of preconceived opinion. The following questions and answers followed:

"THE COURT: Mr. Ohran, do you have any knowledge that you would act upon in the trial of this matter, independent from what the evidence might or might not show?

"MR. OHRAN: No. I stated I would judge it on the weight of the evidence, but I do have that knowledge of several people.

"THE COURT: Whatever knowledge you have in reference to Mr. Barlow is through hearsay and gossip that you may have heard?

"MR. OHRAN: And what I have read in the papers.

"THE COURT: And what you have read in the papers?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes.

"THE COURT: And at this time do you still indulge, so far as he is concerned, in the presumption of innocence and presume that he is innocent until he would be proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?

"MR. OHRAN: Oh, I think I would.

"THE COURT: Well, I mean is your feeling towards Mr. Barlow at this time that he is pre-

sumed innocent until he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes. I would judge that.

"MR. HATCH: I would ask the Court to ask Mr. Ohran if prior to this time he has formed an opinion as to Mr. Barlow's present marital status?

"MR. OHRAN: No. Just what has been in the paper. I think every informed person in reading it they assume that there is something connected to it.

"THE COURT: Well, Mr. Ohran, you have served as a juror here many times, haven't you, in criminal cases?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes sir.

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