1957

# State of Utah v. Albert Edmund Barlow : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

## A.

THE STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE IN-  
VOLVED, SECTION 76-53-2, U. C. A. 1953,  
CONTAINS AN IMPLIED TIME FACTOR.

Section 76-53-2, U. C. A. 1953, reads in part:

“If any person cohabits with more than one  
person of the opposite sex such person is guilty of  
a felony.”

In his brief defendant argues that the statute does not say  
“at the same time” and is therefore ambiguous. He selects  
by way of illustration the case of a divorcee or widower  
who, within a four year period, marries again and asks  
if they have not in fact violated the statute. The answer  
is no.

It is fundamental to criminal law that all elements  
which constitute an offense must exist concurrently, other-  
wise the offense is not committed. If, for example, A mar-

ries X, cohabits with her and holds her out to the world as his wife, and after her death marries Y, cohabits with her and holds her out as his wife, how could it be said that he has violated the statute? At what point, or over what period of time, has he cohabited with *more than one* person of the opposite sex? At the time he cohabited with X, Y had not entered the picture, and at the time he cohabited with Y, X was dead. There is no concurrence of the two periods of cohabitation and consequently no crime.

The point is illustrated by the familiar requirement that there is no crime unless the intent and the criminal act concur. Section 76-1-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953; Burdick Law of Crime, Sec. 115. Further illustration lies in the Code section defining first degree burglary, 76-9-1, U. C. A. 1953. If B, carrying a satchel full of nitroglycerin, forcibly breaks and enters in the daytime a structure in which a safe is kept, and conceals himself until dark, at which time he blows the safe and takes the money, he presumably is not guilty of first degree burglary because the breaking and entering was not in the nighttime. Yet nowhere does that section require that all the elements comprising the offense must be present concurrently. That requirement is implied.

In this case the defendant is charged with cohabiting with three women from April 30, 1952 to October 31, 1955, a three and one-half year period. Had the evidence shown that he cohabited with Amanda Kate Kilgrow Barlow in 1952, Maurin Owen Barlow in 1953, and Vio Fraser Barlow in 1954, then at no point within the period charged would he have been cohabiting "with more than one person of the

opposite sex" but the evidence showed that he cohabited with all of them concurrently.

## B.

### THE INFORMATION CHARGES THE DEFENDANT WITH ONLY ONE OFFENSE.

Defendant argues next that he is charged with three offenses because three women were named in the information and there are three possible findings which would sustain a conviction. The answer is that the offense created by the Legislature is cohabitation with more than one person of the opposite sex and proof of concurrent cohabitation with any number from two on up will sustain a conviction.

If the defendant's contention had merit it would be difficult to uphold, for example, the universally accepted method of charging and proving the theft of more than one article in one transaction. The general rule is that where two or more articles are stolen together the theft may, in fact must, be charged in one count. Wharton's Criminal Law, 12th Edition, Section 1171. The rule is the same even where the individual articles stolen are separately owned. *State v. McKee*, (1898), 17 U. 370, 53 P. 733; *State v. Mickel*, (1901), 23 U. 507, 65 P. 484.

Suppose, then, that X steals articles A, B, and C, each worth \$30.00, and is charged in a single count with grand larceny. The value of the articles stolen is one of the elements of the crime to be proved. *State v. Lawrence*, (1951),

... U. . . ., 234 P. 2d 600. There is a dispute in the evidence on whether the defendant purchased the articles. The jury returns a verdict of guilty as charged. There is no way of knowing in such a case whether the jury found that the defendant stole all three articles or only two of them, and if only two, which two. Yet it has not successfully been contended that such a conviction will not stand because the defendant was charged with three crimes. The reason is that the Legislature has said that grand larceny is the felonious stealing, etc. of the personal property of another of a value in excess of \$50.00, and whether the proof shows it to have been one article or three articles is immaterial. The Legislature has likewise said that it shall be a felony to cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex and it doesn't matter how many more than one. It is the position of the State that the conviction in this case would be an unconditional bar to a subsequent prosecution for unlawful cohabitation alleged to have been committed at the same time as that charged here, whether the women involved were named in this information or not.

## POINT II.

### DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE OF JUROR OHRAN WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

On voir dire of the jury panel, it was brought out that juror Ohran was acquainted with the defendant, the latter having done some work as a carpenter for Mr. Ohran some three years previously (R. 39). The District Attorney later inquired whether Mr. Ohran during that acquaintance had

become sufficiently familiar with the defendant's family life that his judgment might be affected one way or the other. The record at that point (R. 51) reads:

"MR. OHRAN: No, I didn't know at that time. Since that time and I guess I have been a little acquainted with it we have had a girl who is in a similar circumstance work for us and talked about it.

"MR. ANDERSON: You have no direct knowledge of his family circumstance?

"MR. OHRAN: No, I don't know Mr. Barlow's family at all."

Defense counsel then challenged Mr. Ohran for cause and the court proceeded to make further inquiry in order to determine whether he was in fact biased. The record continues (R. 52-53):

"THE COURT: Mr. Ohran, do you have any knowledge that you would act upon in the trial of this matter, independent from what the evidence might or might not show?

"MR. OHRAN: No. I stated I would judge it on the weight of the evidence, but I do have that knowledge of several people.

"THE COURT: Whatever knowledge you have in reference to Mr. Barlow is through hearsay and gossip that you may have heard?

"MR. OHRAN: And what I have read in the papers.

"THE COURT: And what you have read in the papers?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes.

"THE COURT: And at this time do you still indulge, so far as he is concerned, in the presumption of innocence and presume that he is innocent until he would be proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?

"MR. OHRAN: Oh, I think I would.

"THE COURT: Well, I mean is your feeling towards Mr. Barlow at this time that he is presumed innocent until he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes. I would judge that.

"MR. HATCH: I would ask the Court to ask Mr. Ohran if prior to this time he has formed an opinion as to Mr. Barlow's present marital status?

"MR. OHRAN: No. Just what has been in the paper. I think every informed person in reading it they assume that there is something connected to it.

"THE COURT: Well, Mr. Ohran, you have served as a juror here many times, haven't you, in criminal cases?

"MR. OHRAN: Yes sir.

"THE COURT: And you have heard my statement to the effect that the fact the defendant is charged by the information of the District Attorney is no evidence of his guilt. Would you treat Mr. Barlow with that legal proposition in this matter?

"MR. OHRAN: I think I would.

"THE COURT: And the fact that he has been charged you would not assume from that, that that was any evidence of his guilt or that he was guilty?

"MR. OHRAN: No.

"MR. ANDERSON: Your Honor, the State would resist the challenge that was made. Of course

we would leave it up to Your Honor but I think in fairness I should state that.

"MR. HATCH: I should like to ask him one more question.

"THE COURT: You may.

"MR. HATCH: On what basis do you make the statement 'That we had a girl working that was in a similar position or condition' if you have formed no opinion?

"MR. OHRAN: Well this girl's husband was put in jail for that about two months ago.

"MR. HATCH: On the basis of that statement I will renew my motion to challenge for cause.

"THE COURT: Mr. Ohran if you were in the position of this defendant and the State of Utah would you be willing to submit your case to eight men like yourself?

"MR. OHRAN: I think I would.

"THE COURT: I don't think he shows any impartiality."

At no time did Mr. Ohran express an unqualified opinion on the guilt or innocence of the defendant or demonstrate that he had formed such an opinion. On the contrary, his answers show that any notion he had concerning the defendant's marital status was the result of newspaper reading and hearsay. He acknowledged having had conversations with a girl who said her husband had been put in jail, apparently for the same offense. But the record does not show, as stated in defendant's brief at page 19, that "the defendant was 'in the same situation as the husband of the girl working for him who had been put in jail for that about two months ago'." The most the record shows

on this point is that Mr. Ohran was acquainted with people who had been involved more or less intimately in situations which may have grown out of the offense with which the defendant was charged.

The defendant's argument that Mr. Ohran was not impartial cannot stand in the face of the answers given by him to questions from the court. The above quoted portions of the record show statements by the challenged juror that he would act on the evidence produced in court and not on some other basis (R. 40); that he had no knowledge of the defendant's family circumstances (R. 51); that he had no knowledge upon which he would act independent from what the evidence might show, and that he would judge the matter on the weight of the evidence (R. 52); that he presumed the defendant to be innocent and would so presume until it was proved otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt (R. 52); that he had not formed an opinion as to the defendant's marital status (R. 52); that the fact that the defendant was charged with an offense by the District Attorney would not be any evidence to him of the defendant's guilt (R. 53), and that if he were in the defendant's position he would be willing to submit his case to eight men like himself (R. 53).

The trial court's inadvertent statement that Mr. Ohran showed no *impartiality* rather than no *partiality* lends no support to the defendant's contention. The judge previously had used the one term for the other but had corrected himself (R. 47, lines 28 to 30), and it is obvious from that which precedes the statement relied on that the judge meant to say, I don't think he shows any *partiality*.



Our statutes on challenge to the jury support the position of the state on this point. Section 77-30-19, U. C. A. 1953, so far as is pertinent, provides:

“A challenge for implied bias may be taken for all or any of the following causes and for no other:

\* \* \*

“(8) Having formed or expressed an unqualified opinion or belief as to whether the defendant is guilty or not guilty of the offense charged.”

Section 77-30-21, U. C. A. 1953, states:

“In a challenge for implied bias one or more of the causes stated in section 77-30-19 must be alleged. In a challenge for actual bias the cause stated in section 77-30-18 (2) must be alleged; but no person shall be disqualified as a juror by reason of having formed or expressed an opinion upon the matter or cause to be submitted to such jury founded upon public rumor, statements in public journals or common notoriety; provided, it appears to the court, upon his declaration under oath or otherwise, that he can and will, notwithstanding such opinion, act impartially and fairly upon the matters submitted to him. The challenge may be oral, but must be entered in the minutes of the court or noted by the reporter.”

Upon application of either or both statutes to the facts of this case it becomes clear that juror Ohran was competent to serve. He had neither formed nor expressed an unqualified opinion or belief on the defendant's guilt or innocence, and any tentative opinion he had formed was based on rumor, newspaper articles or common notoriety.

It has for years been the law in this state that it is an unqualified opinion as to the guilt or innocence of an accused which disqualifies a juror and in the absence of such an opinion he is competent to serve. *People v. O'Loughlin* (1882), 3 U. 133, 141, 1 P. 653. This court has further held that where a juror expresses a willingness to follow the directions of the court in deciding the issue, he is not disqualified because of prior answers indicating bias. *State v. DeWeese* (1918), 51 U. 515, 172 P. 290, 293. In *State v. BeBee* (1946), 110 U. 484, 175 P. 2d 478, 482, the *O'Loughlin* and *DeWeese* cases were cited with approval and after discussing the statutes above quoted (U. C. A. 1943 citations), this court held that a jurymen who had formed an opinion based on newspaper articles and rumors was nevertheless competent to render a fair and impartial verdict, and was properly retained on the panel. See also *State v. Musser* (1946), 110 U. 534, 175 P. 2d 724, 738.

Assuming, for purposes of argument, that juror Ohran had formed a fixed opinion on the marital status of the defendant, there could have been no prejudice to him. His marital status was not in issue except with relation to the rule that a man is presumed to cohabit with his legally married wife, *United States v. Clark* (1889), 6 U. 120, 21 P. 463, and the judge omitted to instruct the jury on this point (R. 237). Moreover, it was stipulated at the trial that defendant was lawfully married to the Amanda Kate Kilgrow Barlow named in the information (R. 32, 33, Exhibit 1) and there thenceforth was no dispute for the jury on that point.

## POINT III.

THE JURY WAS SUFFICIENTLY INSTRUCT-  
ED AS TO THE MEANING OF THE WORD  
"COHABIT."

The defendant maintains that the court erred in failing to more fully define the word "cohabit" to the jury. This contention has no merit. Like many other offenses, unlawful cohabitation consists of a course of conduct and the prohibited course of conduct was explicitly set forth to the jury in instruction number 5. Further, the word itself has a usual, generally accepted meaning, presumably familiar to the jurors and is not a technical word. *State v. Barlow* (1944), 107 U. 292. 153 P. 2d 647, 651, and authorities there cited.

## POINT IV.

## A.

EVIDENCE DESCRIBING CIRCUMSTANCES  
EXISTING PRIOR TO THE TIME OF THE  
OFFENSE CHARGED WAS RELEVANT TO  
SHOW A CONTINUING CONDITION.

Defendant complains specifically of Exhibits 36, 37, 38 and 39 and the testimony of Mrs. Annie Roll (R. 159). In order for the State to prove a case it had to show a course of conduct by which the defendant was "\* \* \* living, to all intents and purposes, so far as the public could see, as husband and wife \* \* \*" with more than one woman. *United States v. Cannon* (1885), 4 U. 122, 7 P.

369. It was thus relevant to show the existence of a household and family being held out to the world with each of the women named in the information, and the school records tended to show that relationship. That some of the information shown on the school records (Exhibits 36, 37 and 38) deals with conditions outside the period is immaterial. The testimony showed that the information was gathered and the records compiled within the period set forth in the information.

To the extent that the records deal with a condition that existed prior to the period charged, such a condition may be shown where there exists a probability that the condition continued to exist. On this point Wigmore on Evidence, 3rd Edition, Section 437, states:

“When the existence of an object, condition, quality, or tendency at a given time is in issue, the *prior existence* of it is in human experience some indication of its probable persistence or continuance *at a later period.*”

The hospital records referred to, Exhibit 39, are evidence of a family relationship between the defendant, Vio Fraser Barlow and their children prior to and during the period charged, and other evidence showed that this relationship continued during the period charged. It is true that defense counsel objected to their admission as hearsay, but those entries signed by the defendant were not hearsay, and counsel's objection was not specific but was addressed to the group of records. They were therefore properly admitted.

With respect to the testimony of Mrs. Annie Roll (R. 159-166), it, too, was relevant to show a condition that existed at one time and which other evidence tended to show still existed.

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